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The aricle deals with the various influences discernible in
the ecclesiastical architecture of the Despotate of Epirus
X" c. ). According to the analysis given in the text, the
antecedents of the church architecture of this byzantine
state must be sought in the local tradition and in the
Helladic school, but also in the architecture of
Constantinople, Macedonia and the West.

A notable local school of architecture flourished in
the thirteenth century in the state founded in western Greece
after the dismemberment of the Byzantine Empire by the
participants in the Fourth Crusade. That state, ruled by the
Komnenos Doukas family related to the Byzantine emperors
Isaakios II and Alexios III, and commonly called in modem
research the Despotate of Epirus, had its capital in Arta,
expanded very rapidly and almost succeeded in recapturing
Constantinople from the Latins." Few buildings are ascribed
to the first three decades of the thirteenth century, the period
of consolidation and expansion of the new state. An impor-
tant building activity is witnessed during the reign of
Michael II (c. 1231-1268), when the Despotate was gradual-
ly confined to western Greece and Thessaly, and that of his
son Nikephoros (1268-1296), otherwise a period of decline.
No noteworthy structures were erected after the fall of the
Komnenodoukas dynasty in 1318.

If one excepts the pioneering but obsolescent articles
of Friderikos Versakis and Demetrios Evangelidis, both clas-
sical archaeologists,” the foundations for the study of the
architecture of the Despotate were laid by the prominent
Greek architectural historian Anastasios Orlandos, who,
however, published only books and articles on individual
monuments.” The publication or reassessment of various
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phallenia (TIB, 3), Vienna, 1981, 59-70; D. Nicol, The Despotate of
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monuments of that school proceeds thanks to the works of
scholars such as Charalampos Bouras,* Aleksander Meksi,’
Pirro Thomo,6 Myrtali Achimastou-Potamianou,7 Nikolaos
Nikonanos (for the monuments of Thessaly),g Horst Ha;téns-
leben,” Lioba Theis,'® Evangelia Papatheophanous-Tsouri,"
Aphrodite Pasali'” and the author of the present paper,'”
who also attempted short overall surveys of the architecture
of the Despotate."* They had been preceded by the entry
“Epiros” of the late Professor Demetrios Pallas in the Real-
lexikon zur byzantinischen Kunst,"> a survey of Byzantine
architecture in the thirteenth century by the Jubilar of the
present volume,'® and the relevant section of Cyril Mango’s
book on Byzantine architecture’’ George Velenis formula-
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1972, 59-102; L’architecture de l'église de Perondi et sa restauration,
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Fig. 1 Arta, St Nicholas Rodias. Exterior from the southwest

ted sagacious remarks on the school of the Despotate,'®
while Constantine Tsouris included a short history of the
architecture of northwest Greece in his excellent doctoral
thesis on the brick decoration of the monuments of that
region during the Late Byzantine period.lg The latest survey
of the architecture of the Despotate is to be found in the
recent Architecture of the Byzantine World by Professors
Vojislav Koraé and Marica Suput.”

The architecture of the Despotate was rooted in the
tradition of the Pre-Helladic school which flourished in the
eighth, ninth and tenth century in southern Greece, the Pelo-
ponnese and Epirus”, but assimilated various influences,
and affected in its turn neighbouring regions, such as Thes-
saly and Western Macedonia, which had been incorporated
for shorter or longer periods in the state of the “Komneno-
doukades”.* My contribution to the volume of Zograf dedi-
cated to Professor Kora¢ will investigate the various in-
fluences discernible in the ecclesiastical architecture of the
Despotate. } /

{

Krautheimer, Early Christian and Byzantine Architecture, 4™ revised
edition, New Haven-London 1986, does not examine the monuments of
the Despotate of Epirus as a separate group.

"™ G. Velenis, Hermeneia, 41-44, 97-98, 126-127, 186-189, 270-273,
299-300; idem, Thirteenth-Century Architecture in Epirus, 279-285.

" K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 209-227.

%'V, Koraé - M. Suput, Arhitektura Vizantijskog Sveta, Belgrade 1998,
318-328.

2L P, L. Vocotopoulos, Architecture of the 7""-10™ cent.

2 See K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 224-226, and P. L. Vocotopoulos, Art un-
der the “Despotate” of Epirus (as in note 14), 229.

The architecture of the Despotate of Epirus is charac- r

terized by the great variety of church types used. The more
common ones are the cross-in-square, the cross-vaulted
church and the aisleless chapel.

Most cross-in-square churches belong to the variant,
where the dome is supported by the walls separating the
sanctuary from the prothesis and diakonikon, and by two
columns or piers. This variant, attested in St Nicholas Ro-
dias near Arta (fig. 1),> St George at Angelokastron in
Aitolia,24 the church of the Pantokrator at Monastiraki in
Akarnania,” the Panagia (Red Church) at Voulgareli,26 and
also in buildings of nearby regions imitating Epirote models,
like the Omorphokklisia near Kastoria®” or the Holy Trinity
and the Vlacherna at Berat,”® is typical of the Helladic
school prevailing in southern Greece during the eleventh,
twelfth and thirteenth centuries.” The Megali Panagia at

3 A. K. Orlandos, ‘O “dyioc Niéhaog tijg Podiic, ABME, 2,1936,131-147.

2 1dem, BoCovuiva puvnuéio e Aitwloaxapvaviog, ABME, 9, 1961, 68-73.

Zp I, Vocotopoulos, ‘O vaog 1ot Iaviokpdropoc ot Movastnpéxt Bovi-
7ong, DChAE, 10, 1980-1981, 357-377.

% H. Hallensleben, Die architekturgeschichtliche Stellung der Kirche Sv.
Bogorodica Peribleptos (note 9), 304-315.

2 E. Stikas, Une église des Paéologues aux environs de Castoria, BZ,
51, 1958, 100-112.

* A. Meksi, Les trois églises byzantines de Berat, Monumentet, 4, 1972,
59-102.

* The term “Helladic school” is to be preferred to the current “Greek
school”, which has sometimes been misinterpreted as referring to a
national Greek school, thereby implying that the buildings of other
regions of the Byzantine realm, such as Constantinople, Asia Minor or
Thrace were not built by Greeks. There is no up-to-date comprehensive



\

01?_345’/ZD
=M

ALSAYYAH £

Fig. 2 Pantanassa. Ground plan

Paramythia also belongs to that type, but has a longitudinal
barrel vault instead of a dome.* The corner bays are covered
either by longitudinal barrel vaults, typical of the Helladic
school, or by domical vaults, which are also often encounte-
red in two-column cross-in-square churches in southern Gre-
ece.’' The type of the single-naved cross-in-square chapel of
St Stephen at Rivion (Akarnania) is encountered mainly in the
Aegean islands and Cyprus, but its masonry and formal ele-
ments imitate south Greek models.*> Two churches, the Pan-
tanassa near Philippias (fig. 2) and the initial Paregoritissa,

treatment of that school. One has to refer to G. Millet’s pioneering work
L'école grecque dans ['architecture Byzantine, Paris 1916, and to
numerous articles by H. Megaw, A. Orlandos, Ch. Bouras and other
scholars.

A, Pasali, ‘H Meyddy Hovayx omyv Hapauvdi Ocompwrtiac, DChAE,
19, 1996-1997, 369-370, fig. 1-3,5-6.

31'S. Mamaloukos, ITapatproeic oV SI0UCPPWOT T@V YOVIAK® YV JlaiE-
PIGUET@Y T@V SIKIOVIQWY GTAVPOEId® Y EYYeEypauuévay vadv tijc ‘EAld-
dog, DChAE, 14, 1987-1988, 189-204. Barrel-vaults are used at St Ni-
cholas Rodias, the Panagia at Voulgareli, the Omorphokklisia, the Me-
gali Panagia; domical vaults in the Pantokrator near Monastiraki, St
George at Angelokastron, the Holy Trinity at Berat.

belong to the composite four-column variant with extra bays
for the sanctuary, characteristic of Constantinopolitan archi-
tecture.’* Although there are also many examples of this va-
riant in the Helladic school, other metropolitan features of
these churches, e.g. the four subsidiary domes or the blind
arches and niches articulating their exterior, point to the
school of Constantinople. Velenis, however, suggests that the
immediate models used by the Epirote builders must be
sought not in the capital itself but in Lascarid architecture and
more specifically in Church E of Sardis.**

3 .
% Ch. Bouras, as in note 4.

33 On the Pantanassa, founded by Michael II in the 1240s, see P. L. Voco-
topoulos, in AAA and Praktika, as in note 13. On the Paregoritissa see
A. K. Orlandos, Paregoritissa and L. Theis, op. cit. (note 10). G. Vele-
nis, Thirteenth-Century Architecture in Epirus, 280-281, and L. Theis
have proved that the existing building, dated to the early 1290s, incor-
porates the lower part of a mid-thirteenth century church. Theis and K.
Tsouris (Diakosmos, 242 note 80) believe that the original Paregoritissa
was a church on squinches, while Velenis argues that it was a compo-
site cross-in-square structure. Mrs. B. Papadopoulou of the Ephoreia of
Byzantine Antiquities of Ioannina informs me that trial trenches indi-
cate that Velenis' view is the correct one.
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Fig. 3 Arta, Kato Panagia. Exterior from the southeast

Fig. 4 Arta, Paregoritissa. Isometric view
(after Orlandos)

Three of the eleven surviving three-aisled cross-
vaulted churches with one pair of columns (the Panagia tou
Bryoni near Arta,35 the Taxiarches at Kostaniani*® and St
Demetrius in the region of Phanari®’), and the Kato Panagia
in Arta, where the aisles are separated by three pairs of
columns (fig. 3),*® were erected in the Despotate of Epirus,
while the Porta Panagia in Thessaly, which imitates the
Kato Panagia, was built by the local ruler John Doukas, an
illegitimate son of Michael IL.* The Panagia tou Bryoni is
dated to 1238, while the Kato Panagia (and also the single-
naved cross-vaulted church of the Transfiguration near Ga-

* G. Velenis, ibid., 281. On the Sardis church see H. Buchwald, Sardis
Church E. A Preliminary Report, JOB, 26, 1977, 264-299; idem,
Church E at Sardis and the Contribution of Asia Minor to the Architec-
tural Vocabulary of the 13" Century, Actes du XV® Congrés Interna-
tional d’ Etudes Byzantines, IIA, Athens 1981, 93-98.

%5 A. K. Orlandos, ‘H Havayio 105 Mrpviyvy, ABME, 2,1936, 51-56; P.
L. Vocotopoulos, lTapatnpriceis émi tijs Havayiag 106 Mrpvdvy,  Ap-
yawhoykov Aghtiov, 28, 1973, fasc. A, 159-168. G. Velenis, Thirte-
enth-Century Architecture in the Despotate of Epirus, 279-280, identi-
fies the original church as a cross-vaulted structure.

6 D. Evangelidis, Bulavuva pviueia tijc 'Hreipov, "Hrepotika Xpovi-
Ké, 6, 1931, 258-274.

P L. Vocotopoulos, ‘H mdivBivny émypagy tijc Moviic 1ot ‘Ayiov Anunr-
piov 1o Pavapr ¢ "Hreipov., ‘EMmvika, 39, 1988, 164-167. A mo-
nograph on this monument is being prepared by the author of the pre-
sent paper.

* A. K. Orlandos, ‘H Movn tij¢c Kérw Havayi@c, ABME, 2, 1936, 70-87.
In this church the central bay of the transverse vault is raised above its
lateral bays.

¥ Idem, ‘H Iépra-Tlavayix tijc Ocooaliac, ABME, 1, 1935, 5-40.



Fig. 5 Arta, Paregoritissa. Exterior from the northeast

laxidi*®) were built by Michael II, probably in the 1240s;
they therefore belong to the early examples of that type,
which was confined to southern Greece, Epirus, Thessaly,
the region of Ochrid and some Aegean islands.*' One might
be tempted to assign to Epirus the invention of that church
type, but examples in other regions, not dated by inscrip-
tions or written sources — such as St George at Androussa in
Messenia, dated by Bouras to the early thirteenth century* -
may be earlier than the firmly dated ones and there are hints
of a possible Western origin of the type.43

Aisleless chapels are usually timber-roofed, as was
the rule during the preceding period in mainland Greece.**
The type was mainly used for modest structures and most
examples preserved are situated far from urban centres.

In the Paregoritissa, one of the most original creations
of Byzantine architecture, combining an octagon with a cross-
in-square, the central space is higher than it is wide, as is the

*'P. L. Vocotopoulos, ITapatpiiceic at0v vao 105 Zotijpog kovik oto

TI'adaleior, DChAE, 17,1993-1994,199-210.

*! On cross-vaulted churches see A. K. Orlandos, Oi aravperioteyor vaoi
ti¢ ‘EAAddog, ABME, 1, 1935, 41-50; H. M. Kiipper, Der Bautypus der
griechischen Dachtranseptkirche, Amsterdam 1990; M. Doris, /lpdta-
on yix mv wroloyia 1@ v oravperiotéywy va® v, Athens 1991.

2 Ch. Bouras, ‘0 “Aytoc I'edpyioc ¢ "Avdpovone, Xapiotiplov €l "Ava-
otactov K. *Ophavdov, 2, Athens 1964, 270-285.

3 See for example H. M. Kiipper, op. cit., 90-91, 151-155.

* St Basil at Arta, the Alychniotissa near Vonitsa, St George near Stamna
in Aitolia, St Nicholas Ntiliou on the island of Ioannina, the Kokkini
Panagia near Konitsa, St Kyriaki in Gardiki, St Catherine in northern
Corfu were all timber-roofed, while the Holy Apostles near Neromanna

Fig. 6 Mesopotamon, St Nicholas.
Reliefs of a tree and a lion on the east fagcade

rule in Gothic buildings (fig. 4).*> The exterior of the building
does not correspond to the layout of the interior, contrary to
Byzantine practice (fig. 5). The massive cubic structure, with
flat surfaces and two rows of big double-light windows,
recalls Italian palazzi of the Early Renaissance.

The church of St Nicholas at Mesopotamon is also
unique in its plan. It is a twoﬁisled structure with two domes
in each aisle, supported byL'a single column in the centre,

in Aitolia is barrel-vaulted. On single-naved churches of the Middle
Byzantine period see P. L. Vocotopoulos, Architecture of the 7"-10"
cent., 105-106.

% A. K. Orlandos, Paregoritissa, passim.
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Fig. 7 Vlacherna. Upper part of the north apse
from the southeast

and had originally two apses. A narthex covered by three
domical vaults communicates with the aisles through a col-
onnade. The appearance of the building is even more clum-
sy than that of the Paregoritissa. The lower part of the exte-
rior is faced with neatly hewn marble blocks, decorated with
real and imaginary animals, carved in low relief in romanes-
que style (fig. 6).%

Many churches did not originally have a narthex.
When they do, it is generally of modest size. An exception
is the katholikon of the monastery of the Panagia at Moly-
vdoskepastos, where the narthex is much larger than the
triconch-shaped naos. The Molyvdoskepastos narthex is
also exceptional because of its longitudinal cross-vaulted
form.*”” Narthexes are usually tripartite, with lateral bays co-
vered by transverse barrelvaults, as in the Helladic school,
but in the central bay the higher longitudinal barrel-vault
customary in southern Greece is usually replaced by a do-
mical vault.

In four churches — the Kato Panagia, the Porta Pana-
gia, the Megali Panagia at Paramythia and the church at
Mesopotamon — the narthex is not separated from the naos
by a wall.*® Such an arrangement is attested in St Nicholas
in Korthion on the island of Andros,* survives in the seven-

6 A, Meksi, L’architecture de 1’église de Mesopotame, Monumentet, 3,
1972, 47-94; idem, Nouvelles données sur l’église de Mesopotame,
ibid., 10, 1975, 151-159.

‘T Other cross-vaulted narthexes are those of St George at Sfaka in
Phthiotis, and of the katholikon of the monastery of the Panagia Spi-
taiotissa in the Zagori region north of Ioannina, dating however from
1665; see Ch. Bouras, ‘O vaog 1o ‘Ayiov l'ewpyiov amyv Zpdxa POich-
ndog, "Exkinoieg omyv ‘EMGSa peta v “Alwon, III, Athens 1989,
171-177; E. Konkhylaki, ‘H Havayia Emplaidtioee 'Apictnc Zayopiov,
ibid., I, Athens 1982, 50, fig. 3-5.

TAK, Orlandos, ‘H Mowy tijc Kérw Iavaypi@g, ABME, 2, 1936, 75, fig. 4;
idem, ‘H I1épra Mavayix tijc Ocooaliag, ABME, 1, 1935, 11, fig. 3-4; A.
Pasali, ‘H Meyddn Iavayie omv Hapauvbie Ocompartiac, DChAE, 19,
1996-1997, 370, 379 fig. 3.

¥ D. Vassiliadis, Bolavuve uvnusio tij¢ "Avdpov, * Apyatohoyixr) *Enue-
pig 1960, 18-19, fig. 2.

teenth-century St Menas at Monodendri in Epirus,” and was
also used in Southern Serbia at Staro Nagori¢ino, Matejic,
Psa¢a and Markov Manastir.”'

Many churches of the Despotate are flanked from the!
mid-thirteenth century onwards by porticos, which are either
contemporary with the churches they flank, as in the second
phase of the Paregoritissa and the church of the Virgin at
Preventza (Akarnania), or were added later, as in the church
of St Theodora at Arta, and at Pantanassa near Philippias.
They may be symmetrical, as in the Paregoritissa and the
church of Christ Pantocrator at Monastiraki, near Vonitsa,
or they may not, as at Pantanassa (fig. 2) and St Demetrius
in the region of Phanari. They are either open, as in the
Pantanassa and in St Theodora at Arta, or closed, as in the
Paregoritissa and the Panagia at Preventza. Chapels are
often positioned at the East end of the lateral porticoes.”

Ambulatories, lateral porticos and chapels are alien to
the local tradition. Symmetrical lateral chapels appear in the
early tenth century in the church of Constantine Lips in
Constantinople; they are combined with lateral porticos or
an ambulatory in the early churches of the Rus’, which
follow Constantinopolitan models,”* and are attested during
the Palaiologan period in the capital, Thessaloniki, Serbia
and Mistra. The examples in Mistra, Thessaloniki and Ser-
bia are later in date than those in Epirus. We therefore deal
with a Constantinopolitan feature adopted by Epirote buil-
ders during the reign of Michael II, which became very po-
pular under Nikephoros I.

A transverse vaulted passage may lead from the
entrance of the loggia to a lateral door of the naos, e.g. at
Preventza, Monastiraki, Mesopotamon and St Basil at Arta.
The same happens at the Omorphokklisia near Kastoria.
Such an arrangement is attested in the ruined chuch at Dili-
skelesi in Bithynia which, judging from its five-sided apses,
should be dated after the eleventh century.” It is more
probable that the monuments of the Despotate follow also in
this respect a metropolitan tradition than vice versa.

Two masonry techniques prevail in the Despotate:
The cloisonné technique on the one hand, and on the other
roughly hewn stones in regular courses alternating with sin-
gle brick courses, with horizontally laid brick fragments ad-
ded to fill the vertical joints (fig. 3, 7). This masonry tech-
nique, rooted in the local tradition,> is practically confined
to Epirus. Cloisonné, which is more widespread, employs
dressed stones in regular courses, framed horizontally and

" P. L. Vocotopoulos, ‘O vadg 105 ‘Ayiov Myva@ ot Movodévdp: tos Za-

yopiov, 'Exxinoieg peta myv “Ahwon, 1, Athens 1979, 111, fig. 4.

' A. Deroko, Monumentaina i dekorativna arhitektura u srednjevekovnoj
Srbiji, Belgrade 1985, fig. 252, 257, 260, 262.

2 p_ L. Vocotopoulos, ‘O vad¢ 10 Ilavroxparopog ato Movaotnpdxt Bovi-
wong, DChAE, 10, 1980-1981, 370-373. L. Theis, op. cit. (note 10), 90-
105, 108-109. Cf. Sl. Cur¢i¢, Gracanica. King Milutin’s Church and
Its Place in Late Byzantine Architecture, University Park-London
1979, 80-85.

53 V. Lazarev, Regard sur l'art de la Russie prémongole, Cahiers de Civi-
lisation médiévale, XIII, 1970, 196, 199, 201. C. Mango, Byzantine Ar-
chitecture, New York 1976, 324-329.

¥ S1. Curié, op. cit., 82-83; P. L. Vocotopoulos, ‘O vaog 1ot Iavayiag
omv IlpePéviCa tijc 'Axapvaviag, Byzantium. Tribute to Andreas N.
Stratos, Athens 1986,1, 268-270.

%5 Idem, Architecture of the 7"-10" cent., 143-145, 248. This technique,
typical of the Pre-Helladic school, survives in several buildings of the

Helladic school, where it is occasionally combined with cloisonné; see
idem in “EAnvixd, 32, 1980, 379.



vertically by bricks; it is encountered all over the Despotate,
often with double vertical bricks (fig. 5).5% It is a hallmark of
the Helladic school, but its origins may be traced to the Ear-
ly Christian period®’ while its immediate antecedents are
found in the late-ninth and early-tenth century churches of
Kastoria, where, however, the stones are roughly hewn.”® It
is encountered in the southern parts of the Despotate already
in the early eleventh century’” and should be ascribed to the
influence of the Helladic school.

The original core of the church of Pantanassa, built
by Michael II of Epirus in the mid-thirteenth century, and
the ruined and poorly documented St Demetrius at Moly-
vdoskepastos, are built of alternating courses of roughly
hewn stones and of bricks.”’ This is a metropolitan feature,
encountered only occasionally outside Constantinople and
the neighbouring provinces of Bithynia and Thrace.®’ The
use of the recessed course technique, typical of Constanti-
nopolitan architecture but already attested in Thessaloniki in
the Panagia Chalkeon, dated 1028, has been observed in
the brick courses of the Pantanassa,” the arches of the apse
windows of the Koimesis at Molyvdoskepastos™, and also
in some arches and brick bands in the castle of Berat, belon-
ging to the structures erected by the despot of Epirus Mi-
chael I (c. 1204-1215).

Barrel vaults, usually made of brick, predominate;
groin vaults are encountered in some buildings, as the Pare-
goritissa, the narthex of the Megali Panagia at Paramythia,
the West portico of the Pantanassa and the greater part of
the ambulatory of St Theodora in Arta. In the Pantanassa
and St Theodora the groin vaults have stone ribs, which are
decorated in the Pantanassa by two convex mouldings, with
a wedge-shaped projection between them.*

Apses are usually three-sided, as in the Helladic
school. Rounded apses, typical of the Pre-Helladic school,®’
survive in minor monuments, like St Nicholas Ntiliou on the
island of the Lake of Ioannina or a chapel of the monastery

% 1dem, ‘O vad¢ 10B TTavroxparopog ato Movaotnpdxi Bovitang (as in note
52), 374.

57 Idem, in Praktika 1979, 123, pl. 87a.

¥ N. K. Moutsopoulos, 'Exxincies th¢ Kaoropidg, Thessaloniki 1992,
96-100.

“E. g. in the church of the Panagia at Koronisia: P. L. Vocotopoulos,

Architecture of the 7"-10" cent., 54, pl. 35b.

On the coursed masonry of the Pantanassa see P. L. Vocotopoulos in

AAA, V, 1972, 92, fig. 93. The lower courses are built in cloisonné:

idem in AAA, VI, 408, fig. 1. St Demetrius at Molyvdoskepastos, dated

by D. Nicol to the eleventh century (The churches of Molyvdoskepas-
tos, BSA, 48, 1953, 146-147), should be rather assigned to the Palaio-

logan period, as suggested by D. Pallas (RbK, 11, col. 302-303).

' P L. Vocotopoulos, The Role of Constantinopolitan Architecture du-
ring the Middle and Late Byzantine Period, JOB, 31/2, 1981 (XVI. In-
ternationaler Byzantinistenkongress, Akten, 1/2), 556.

2 On this technique cf. idem, The Concealed Course Technique: Further
Examples and a Few Remarks, JOB, 28, 1979, 247-260; R. Ousterhout,
Observations on the “Recessed Brick Technique” during the Palaeo-
logan Period,’ Apyawohoyikov Aghtiov, 39, 1984, fasc. A, 163-170.

SpL. Vocotopoulos in AAA, X, 1977, 154-15, fig. 4-4a; and in Praktika

1987, 123, pl. 92.

Idem, The Concealed Course Technique (as in note 62), 257.

A. Bage, La ville fortifiée de Berat, Monumentet, 2,1971, 47-50,60, fig.

S, pl. III-IV. In two late-thirteenth century churches in Berat, the Holy

Trinity and the Virgin Vlacherna in its original phase, one notices in

some of the brick window frames intermediate thinner bricks which are

recessed and were originally concealed by the mortar joints.

“p L. Vocotopoulos, in AAA, VI, 1973, 409, fig. 7, and in AAA, X,
1977, 156, fig. 5.

55Dl T, Vocotopoulos, Architecture of the 7"-10™ cent., 151.
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of St Demetrius in the plain of Phanari. In the Megali Pa-
nagia at Paramythia the central apse is three-sided while the
lateral ones are rounded; this is a feature encountered in ma-
ny churches of different periods in many regions.® In the
church of Paramythia it was perhaps borrowed from the
ruined St Photeine in nearby Photike.”” In a few cases the
apse has a different form in its lower and upper part: roun-
ded and five-sided in the north apse of the Vlacherna near
Arta, rounded and seven-sided in the church of St Deme-
trius at Molyvdoskepastos, five- and three-sided in the main
apse of St Demetrius in the Phanari region. The five-sided
apses of the original St Nicholas at Mesopotamon and of the
Panagia at Molyvdoskepastos are probably inspired from
Macedonian models.

It is noteworthy that the apses of the twin churches of
St Nicholas and the Taxiarches at Mokista in Aitolia, of the
late thirteenth century, are rectangular.”” Three explanations
have been advanced for the occurrence of this uncommon
feature in some Byzantine churches: Western influence, al-
though the rectangular apses of Frankish churches are much
larger and have a different use, the imitation of Syrian
models of the Early Christian period, and constructional
considerations.”" In our case the reason for the adoption of
that unusual form is probably the reuse of large ancient
ashlar blocks.

Three-sided apses are often enlivened by blind arches
in ther lateral facets. This is a practice alien to the Pre-
Helladic and the Helladic school. Three-sided apses with
blind arches are first attested in Macedonia in the twelfth
century (St. Demetrius at Aiani). In Epirus the lateral blind
arches, current from the mid-thirteenth century onwards, are
sometimes lower than the window of the central facet,
imitating some three-sided apses in churches of the Despo-
tate with windows on each facet, where the central window
is higher, especially under Michael 117> The three-sided
apses of the Paregoritissa, articulated by blind arcades and
niches in two tiers, are probably derived from Constanti-
nopolitan models (fig. 5).

The churches of the Despotate have usually straight
gables, as was the case in the Pre-Helladic and the Helladic
school. Curved gables, reminiscent of metropolitan architec-
ture, are encountered in the Red Church at Voulgareli (fig.
8), the church of St Demetrius at Phanari, and the church of
the Virgin at Kosina near Premeti/Permet.”* In some cases,

% See e.g. Ch. Delvoye, Etudes d'architecture paléochrétienne et byzan-
tine, II. L'abside, Byzantion, 32, 1962, 537 note 2, or P. L. Vocotopou-
los, ITept myv ypovoddynotv 108 év Kepriopa vaos t@v ‘Ayiwv 'ldowvog
ka1 Zwoirarpov, DChAE, 5, 1966-1969, 159, 315.

% E. Tsigaridas, Eidfoeic éx Ocompawriac, AAA, 11, 1969, 46.

™ A. Paliouras, Bulavrivyy Aitwloaxapvavia, Athens 1985, 225, 226, fig.
232, 233.

"' S. Voyatzis, ‘0 vaoc 10 ‘Ayiov Xapaldumove Kalauérag, DChAE, 16,
1991-1992, 93; A. K. Orlandos, Abo Pvlavivai éxxinoior mopx 1o
Kaxoodleot, ABME, 5, 1939-40, 150-152.

2 G. Velenis, Thirteenth-Century Architecture in Epirus, 282-283.

™ Idem, Hermeneia, 277-278, pl. 17a, 100a. P. Thomo, Deux monuments
de notre architecture médiévale. Les églises cruciformes a coupole de
Kosine et de Berat, Studime Historike, XXVIL.4, 1972, 61, fig. 11. The
west gable of the nave in the Vlacherna appears to have been originally
curved; see A. K. Orlandos, ‘H mapa wyv "Aptav Movyy 1 v Blayepvav,
ABME, 2, 1936, 17, fig. 1.

™ A. K. Orlandos, ‘H Moviy Kérw Iavayiic, ABME, 2, 1936, 76, fig. 4-
6; idem, ‘H ITépra IMovayix 1ij¢ Oeaoaliag, ABME, 1, 1935, 14-16, fig.
6; K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, fig. 54-55.
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for instance at the Kato Panagia (fig. 3), Porta Panagia and
Kostaniani, false pediments suggest that some gables are
higher than they actually are.” This feature, which is not at-
tested in the local tradition, is encountered in monuments of
various periods and regions, such as the Panagia Chalkeon,
the basilica of Kalambaka and the Vlacherna in Elis.

In the Kato Panagia (fig. 3, 9) and in the Porta Pana-
gia in Thessaly, which imitates the former, pilasters linked
by an arch enhance the tympana of the transverse vault.”
This is a feature typical of the Helladic school, where it is
encountered mainly in cross-in-square churches and com-
plex churches on squinches.”®

common in the Helladic school,” also frame windows in
buildings of the Despotate, e.g. at the Kato Panagia and St
Basil in Arta (fig. 10).*® Windows framed by semi-arches and
inscribed in a big arch, which is the face of a barrel vault,
such as those in the Red Church at Voulgareli (fig. 8), are
apparently an invention of the architects of the Despotate.®’
One should again ascribe to Helladic influence the stone
arches and frames of many windows of the Kato and Porta
Panagia (fig. 9) or St Demetrius in the plain of Phanari.**
Windows influenced by Frankish forms are preserved
in the apse of the Taxiarches at Mokista in Aitolia, dating to
the late thirteenth century, terminating with a characteristic

Fig. 8 Voulgarelli, Red Church. South gable of the naos

The Paregoritissa and probably the Pantanassa had
five domes. Domes usually have eight-sided drums.”” Some-
times their form recalls the Helladic school, as in St Stephen
at Rivion in Akarnania, with its simple contours and drum
built in cloisonné. The domes of the Vlacherna, Pantanassa
and Paregoritissa, with brick colonnettes at the corners, are
reminiscent of Palaiologan examples in Thessaloniki, but
those of the first two monuments differ in the form of their
cornice which is level, while in Thessaloniki it is rippling.”®
The very high cupola of the monastery of Molyvdoskepa-
stos finds parallels in Macedonia. The surface of the interior
of the domes is smooth, uninterrupted by ribs or gores,
which, though very frequent in the school of the capital, are
not attested in the Despotate.

Windows are arched. When they have two or three
lights, these are inscribed in a brick or stone frame usually

86 extending to the sill (fig. 5, 8, 10). Lateral semi-arches, quite

5 A. K. Orlandos, ‘H Movyy Kérw Havayiés, ABME, 2,1936, 76, fig. 4, 6;
idem, ‘H Iépra Iavayix tijc Ocooaliog, ABME, 1, 1935, 11, fig. 1, 3, 5.

76§, Mamaloukos, O mvldvac mc Moviic Ayiov lwévvov tov Koviyod
arov Yunrid, Appde. Tymtikog topog otov Kabnymt N. K. Movtod-
movho, 11, Thessaloniki 1991, 1113-1116.

" The large central dome of the Paregoritissa has twelve facets, the domes
over the aisles of the Vlacherna six. The dome of the southern chapel of
the Pantanassa has a cylindrical drum.

™ Vlacherna: A. K. Orlandos, ‘H wapa myv "Aptav Movi) 1év Blayepvv,
ABME, 2, 1936, 8-10, fig. 4, 6. Pantanassa: P. L. Vocotopoulos in
AAA, VI, 1973, 405-406. Paregoritissa: A. K. Orlandos, Paregoritissa,
40-42; L. Theis, op. cit. (note 10), 53-54. The domes of the Paregoritis-
sa originally had arched eaves lines.

™ H. Megaw, The Chronology of some Middle-Byzantine Churches, BSA,
XXXII, 1931-1932, 126-128; G. Velenis, Hermeneia, 262-271.

8 °p_ L. Vocotopoulos, ‘O vaog tij¢ Mavayias amv Tlpefévita tijc "Axapva-
viag, as in note 13, 274; G. Velenis, Hermeneia, 271-272.

*!'G. Velenis, loc. cit.

82 Stone arches and frames are discussed by H. Megaw, The Chronology
of some Middle-Byzantine Churches, as in note 79, 122-124, and by
Ch. Bouras, Bolavriva atavpoféhia ué vevpaaeig, Athens 1965, 70-71.



Fig. 9 Arta, Kato Panagia. South gable
of the transverse vault

trefoil arch (fig. 11), and in the narthex of St John at
Eupalion in the province of Doris, from the same period,
where there are convex mouldings at the angles of the stone
frames.>

The five monumental entrances to the naos and nar-
thex of the Pantanassa are flanked by Gothic marble portals.
Their pedestals, bases (fig. 12) and parts of unfluted co-
lumns are preserved. On the bases the corner of the plinth is
occupied by a griffe.*

Many buildings of the Despotate are very picturesque
because of their variegated brick decoration (fig. 10). Some
simple patterns are usually formed with plain bricks, e.g. su-

¥ Mokista: S. Kalopissi-Verti, Dedicatory Inscriptions and Donor Por-
traits in Thirteenth-Century Churches of Greece, Vienna 1992, 57, fig.
17. Eupalion: A. K. Orlandos, ‘H Movy ngvo’ucoﬂag, Athens 1922, 41,
fig. 29; V. Katsaros, Zntiuara ictopiac evog fulavtivod vaods kovia
oo Edmddio Awpidog, Bulavtva, 10, 1980, 13.

* P. L. Vocotopoulos, in AAA, V, 1972, 92, 96, fig. 3, 11; VI, 1973, 408,
4009, fig. 2, 6; X, 1976,151-153, fig. 2-3; Praktika 1994, 213, pl. 85y.

* K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 139-144, 152-153, 162-176. The superposed
angles and curves were taken from the Helladic school; see e. g. K.
Tsouris, op. cit., 175-176, or S. Mamaloukos, ‘O vaog t0d ‘Ayiov Nixo-
Aéov 105 Néov xovia ato Iapdpt tijc Bowwtiag 'Eretnpic tijc, ‘Etat-
petag Bowwtikdv Meketdv, 1, 1988, 515-516.

¥ K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 117-130.

87 Ibid., 166-167.

* Ibid., 169-170, 172.

¥ Ibid., 169-170.

% Ibid., 117-138. P. L. Vocotopoulos in Praktika 1988, 98, pl. 70b.

! K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 143-144, fig. 31-32.

A. K. Ortandos, ‘H wap& mv "Aptov Movy) t@v Blayepv@v, ABME, 2,

1936, 16, fig. 10, 12; K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 138-139. On kufic deco-

ration in brickwork see e.g. B. Megaw, The Chronology of some Mid-

dle-Byzantine Churches (note 79), 104-109, 117; N. Nikonanos, Ke-

POHOTAGOTIKES KOVPIKES OIAKOOUNOEIS OTX UVNUEIQ TG TEPLOYTS T@V

‘AOpvérv, > ApiEpopa ot pvijun Ztokavod IMekexavidn, Thessaloniki

1983, 330-351.

A. Meksi has already observed other similarities between these two

churches (Nouvelles données sur 1'église de Mesopotam, Monumentet,

10, 1975, 158). They should be much closer in date than usually sug-

gested.
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perposed angles or curves, zigzags, fishbones, lozenges,
step-patterns, basketwork, sunbursts, crosses, branches,85
while other designs consist of bricks shaped by cutting. Ma-
ny of the motifs are modelled by incising various kinds of
notches or simple lines on the edge of a brick. Most belong
to the repertory of the Helladic school, as the disepsilon,
zigzag, sawtooth, undulating line, contiguous lozenges (fig.
13), astragal, key-or S-shaped (fig. 9);*® others are rooted in
the local tradition, such as the zigzag bands,*’ or are appa-
rently borrowed from Macedonia, such as basketwork cove-
ring large surfaces and concentric lozenges,88 or appear for
the first time in buildings of the Despotate, such as the bas-
ketwork bands,xg meander or Z-shaped tiles, bricks with
simple incisions, or tiles with two lentiloid recesses forming
an inverted S, found in the Pantanassa excavation (fig.
14).° Flowers formed by modelled bricks adorn the Vlacher-
na near Arta.”’ The kufic letters common in southern Greece
are practically absent; only a few bricks with kufesque
patterns adorn the tympana above the window of the main
apse in the Vlacherna®® and above the central window of the
west facade of the church at Mesopotamon (fig. 13).”* Some

Fig. 10 Arta, St Basil. Exterior of the
original one-aisled church from the east



Fig. 12 Pantanassa. Detail of the
south portal of the narthex

of the designs made with uncut bricks, such as the step-
pattem, cross or sunburst, may also be formed with cut
bricks or with both. Cut bricks were first introduced by the
ateliers of southern Greece and were extensively used du-
ring the Middle Byzantine Period in the Helladic school,
from which they were adopted in the Despotate. They often
form bands, replacing the dentil courses, both in late
buildings of the Helladic school and in the Despotate (fig. 9-
10) band monuments influenced by it They are unknown
in the school of Constantinople and in Asia Minor, while
they are extremely rare in Macedonia and Thessaly, where
they were used mainly in buildings influenced by the

38 architecture of the Despotate.”

Apart from the bricks decorated on their edge, there
are tiles where the pattern was modelled in champlevé on
the face. Such tiles have been found in the Vlacherna and
the Pantanassa.”® Antecedents may be sought in the friezes
with kufic, geometric and vegetal patterns by champlevé
process of some Athenian churches” and in champlevé tiles
with kuflc and vegetal designs at St Charalampos in Ka-
lamata and St Nicholas at Parori, Boeotia.”® Clay disks en-
countered at Pantanassa and the church at Kosina where
probably collected from ruined Roman baths.”” They are
also found in the church of St Vlasios in Valyra, Messenia,
the Holy Apostles at Leontari and the second phase of the
katholikon of the monastery of Myrtia in Aitolia.'” On
some of the disks found at Pantanassa a cross had been
chiselled out, to be probably filled with some coloured
substance.'”' At Kato Panagia some clay disks bear twelve
incised lines radiating from the centre.'”

The earthenware quatrefoils decorating the Pare-
goritissa and St George at Angelokastron in Aitolia are
encountered during the Middle Byzantine and even more
during the Palaiologan period in a very wide area, between
Romania and Serbia on the one hand and Crete and Cyprus
on the other. According to Tsouris, this pattern was pro-
bably adopted in the Despotate from southern Greek mo-
dels'®. The same applies to the Greek fret (fig. 1, 5, 8, 10),
a motif very widespread in Byzantine architecture, which
appears at St Nicholas Rodias, a building influenced by the
Helladic school, for the first time in northwest Greece (fig.
1), and to the reticulate revetments, forming friezes or
filling blind arcades in the Paregoritissa (fig. 5), the
Pantanassa, the Red Church at Voulgareli (fig. 8) and in
some other monuments.'® This motif appears already in the
Middle-Byzantine Monastery of Kozyli, near Nikopolis,
which also betrays the influence of the Helladic school. In
the Paregoritissa and the Red Church at Voulgareli red brick
tiles are combined with white plaques to form a chequered
pattern. The combination of two colours in the reticulate
bands was apparently first introduced in Epirus; from there
it spread to northern Macedonia — first to the Peribleptos in
Ochrid and then to other buildings, such as St John Kaneo
in the same town and St Demetrius at Veles.'® In the church

* K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 152-157.

% Ibid., 134.

% Ibid., 65-69, fig. 61-63. P. L. Vocotopoulos in AAA, V, 1972, 92, fig.
5; AAA, X, 1977, 157, fig. 8.

T H. Megaw, The Chronology of some Middle-Byzantine Churches, BSA,
XXXII, 1931-1932, 105-106; K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 66-68.

%S Voyatzis, ‘O vaog 1od ‘Ayiov Xapadéumovs Kalaudrag, DChAE, 90,
fig. 15, 17-18. S. Marnaloukos, ‘O vaog 1o ‘Ayiov Nikoléov 106 Néov
kovta oo Ilapdpt ¢ Boiwtiag, (note 85), 492-493, 517-518, fig. 5, 20.

% P. L. Vocotopoulos in AAA, X, 1977, 156, and Praktika 1989, 172-

173, pl. 122a. P. Thomo, op. cit. (note 6 ), fig. 4-5, 10, 12.

A. Kavvadia - K. Tsouris, 400 fvlavrivéc éxklnaics omy Mesonvoia,

*Apyaohoyikov Agktiov, 47, 1992, fasc. A, 270, fig. 2. G. Velenis,

Hermeneia, 275, pl. 96a. A. K. Orlandos, Bvlavuva uvnueia tijc

Aitwloakapvaviag, ABME, 9, 1961, 82, fig. 9.

191 pi L, Vocotopoulos in Praktika 1987, 124, pl. 93a.
02y Tsouris, Diakosmos, 66, fig. 60.

193 Ibid., 69-74. Cf. also A. Kavvadia-K. Tsouris, 460 Bulavivee exxanaiec
oty Meaanvia,’ Apyaohoyikov Agktiov, 47, 1992, 276-277.

"™ K Tsouris, Diakosmos, 157-162.
1% Ibid., 57-65.
1% Ibid., 65.
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Fig. 13 Mesopotamon, St Nicholas. The tympanon of the middle window of the west facade

of St Basil in Arta, usually dated in the late thirteenth century,
the reticulate bands in three colours, unique in Byzantine
architecture, where the green and white tiles are glazed, point
to Italian influence (fig. 10).'07 The same church is notable for
the inclusion in the decoration of its eastern fagade of two
earthenware glazed reliefs with representations of the Cruci-
fixion and of the Three Hierarchs, which are embedded in the
semi-arches flanking the gable window (fig. 10). Terracotta
panels with geometrical, kufic, vegetal or figural representa-
tions are attested during the Middle Byzantine period in Con-
stantinople, Thessaloniki and Bulgaria, and some of them
apparently graced the exterior surfaces of churches —those in
Thessaloniki are preserved in situ in the south facade of the
Panagia Chalkeon—, but they bear little relation to those in
Arta. According to Tsouris' thorough analysis, the Arta panels
were made in that town by an Italian artist for the church of St
Basil after its erection, probably in the first half of the fif-
teenth century. e

The glazed bowls which grace the exterior of some
churches, especially in the region of Arta —e.g. St Theodora,
St Nicholas Rodias, the Vlacherna— but also the Panagia at
Palaiokatouna in Akarnania, the Transfiguration at Galaxidi
and some other monuments of the periphery, were very
often embedded in churches of southern Greece from the
eleventh century onwards. They appear rarely in Thessaly
and Macedonia and are absent in the school of Constantino-
ple and in Asia Minor.'”

"7 Ibid., 63-65.
'™ K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 76-95, fig. 66-71.
' See ibid., 95-116.

In monuments of the Despotate and of adjacent areas,
influenced by its architecture, cut-brick bands, instead of the
usual dentils, often frame windows.'"” Key-shaped bricks
frame the windows of the central apse of the Vlacherna near
Arta and of the transverse vault of the Kato Panagia (fig.
9),'“ disepsilons are encountered in St Nicholas at Kanalia
and the Episkopi near Volos,''> S-shaped bricks imitating a
twisted cord in the Kato Panagia and at Megalovryso near
Agia in Thessaly,'"® both disepsilons and S-shaped bricks in
the katholikon of the monastery of St Lavrentios on Mount
Pelion,'"* a step-pattern at the Omorphokklisia near Kas-
toria,''” quatrefoils in the Paregoritissa,''® interlace in the
Paregoritissa and the Pantokrator church at Monastiraki,'"’
bricks with triangular notches at Platania near Ioannina''®

"' G. Velenis, Hermeneia, 96-98; idem, Thirteenth-Century Architecture
in Epirus, 282, fig. 3, 9-12, 14; K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 153-154, fig.
19-25, 56.

"'K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, fig. 19-22, 24-25.

"2 N. Nikonanos, Bulavrivoi vaoi ¢ Oeooaliog amo 0 10° aidva @&¢
™V KardKTon ¢ meployic ano tod¢ Todprovg 10 1393, Athens 1979,
162, pl. 14, 75b.

"3 1bid., p. 163-164, pl. 12a.

" R. Leonidopoulou-Stylianou, Hopampiioeic ot povasuipt 106 ‘Ayiov
Aavpevtiov IInliov, DChAE, 9, 1977-1979, 235, 237, fig. 3, pl. 94, 96a-b.
The katholikon is here dated to the late twelfth century —in which case it
must imitate south Greek models—, but it may perhaps date from the
early thirteenth.

!5 Ch. Barla, Mopon kai é&iéis 1@ v fulavuved v kwdwvostagiwy, Athens
1959, pl. 3b.

"9 A. K. Orlandos, Paregoritissa, 36, fig. 19d, 24.

""7'p. L. Vocotopoulos, ‘O vaoc tov aviokpéaropog 16 Movastnpési Bovi-
ong, (note 13), 376, pl. 102a, 103a. The interlace motif is not framed
by bricks.

" K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 121.-122, fig. 56.
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Fig. 15 Pantanassa. Fragment of cornice
decorated with billets

and undetermined motifs in the church of Dyrrachion/ Dur-
rés converted into the Fati mosque.'”” The replacement of
the dentil bands framing windows, doors and arches with
cut-bricks is attested in a few examples situated in Attica,
Boeotia, Euboea and the Peloponnese from the twelfth cen-
tury onwards: the exonarthex of the katholikon of the mo-
nastery of St Meletios;'*° the narthex of the Zoodochos Pege
near Dervenosalesi;'?! the churches of St Nicholas near Pa-
rori, Boeotia,'** and in the cemetery of Kalamos, Attica;'>*
St Demetrius at Lombarda on the Saronic Gulf;'** the Ta-
xiarches church at Kalyvia Karystou125 and the Panagitsa of
Vatheia,l26 both in Euboea; and the church on squinches of
Christianou.'”” The practice of circumscribing window fra-

" A. Meksi, Deux basiliques inconnues, in: Monumentet, 13,1977,81, pl. 11.

' A. K. Orlandos, ‘H Mov 10 ‘Ociov Meletiov koi t& mapoldaipia odb-
7ij¢c, ABME, 5, 1939-40, 96, fig. 42.
2! Ch. Bouras, Twelfth and Thirteenth Century Variations of the Single
Dome Octagon Plan, DChAE, 9, 1977-1979, 24, fig. 2, pl. 6.
122 5 Mamaloukos, ‘O vao¢ tod ‘Ayiov Nixodaov 1ot Néov kovia ato Ila-
popt tiic Boiwtiac (as in note 85), 501, 520, 525, fig. 10, 21.
' B, Ginis-Tsofopoulou, “Ayio¢ Nixélaoc otd vexpotapeio Kadduov 'Ar-
1kh¢. Néa ororyeia, DChAE, 11, 1982-1983, 233-234, fig. 7.
12 Ch. Bouras - A. Kaloyeropoulou - R. Andreadi, Churches of Attica,
Athens 1970, 90-91, fig. 93.
On this church see N. K. Moutsopoulos, ‘O Taé&iépyne w@v KadvBiwv
mapx myv Kdpuarov, ’ Apyglov EbBoikdv Meketdv, 8, 1961, p. 204-248.
A. K. Orlandos, Zravperioteyor vaoi BéBeiag Edpoiag, ABME, 7,
1951, p. 116-117, fig. 7, 8.
7B, Stikas, L'église byzantine de Christianou en Trilphylie (Pélopo-
nése) et les autres édifices de méme type, Paris 1951, 26, fig. 29. In the
church of the Transfiguration at Nomitzi in the Mani, fragments of
earthenware are carelessly embedded in the mortar above the arches of
the south bilobed window.
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mes by bands of ceramic elements, adopted by Epirote
masons from the Helladic school, was probably retransmit-
ted by them to the Olympiotissa in Elasson, which otherwise
imitates the architecture of Thessaloniki,'?® to Veroia'® and
to Milutin’s realm; this feature is encountered in the chur-
ches of Bogorodica Ljeviska and Sv. Spas at Prizren, St
George at Staro Nagori¢ino, and survives in the Holy Ar-
changels at Kuéeviste.'"*® The motif used in these buildings
is the quatrefoil.'*'

Inscriptions on the exterior surface of the walls ofT

some churches of the Despotate, which contribute to the ove-
rall decorative effect, are also fairly common in Macedonia.
They were usually formed with letters made of separate pieces
of brick embedded in the mortar, as was the rule in Byzantine
architecture.'¥ At Pantanassa, however, the letters were en-
graved or modelled in relief on bricks set into the wall."** At
St Catherine in northern Corfu letters engraved on the tiles of
a reticulate band form the name of the donor."** Inscriptions
on bricks are encountered also in the Bogorodica Ljeviska in
Prizren;'® they probably imitate models of the Despotate.

The interior of the churches was often articulated with
a cornice at the springing of the vaults and the base of
cupolas. Among the reliefs found during the excavations at
Pantanassa are parts of cornices decorated with romanesque
billets (fig. 15)."* in the interior of the Paregoritissa the lower
part of the walls was covered with slabs of marble, while
reliefs, purely Italian in style, decorate the bases of the upper
tier of columns and the arches under the central cupola.'”’
The decoration of some of the capitals of the Paregoritissa
and of St Basil in Arta betrays Italian influence.'*®

The background of the architects and masons who
worked in the Despotate is unknown, with one exception.
According to a later source —the Chronicle of Galaxidi,
written in 1703 but based on older documents— the church
of the monastery of the Transfiguration above Galaxidi was
built by a famous engineer, called Nikolos Karoulis (Nic-
colo Caruli), who had previously worked for the Franks.
The masonry and forms of that church are not only purely
Byzantine but have a provincial flavour, although the pat-
ron, according to the same source, was Michael II of Epirus.

" N. Nikonanos, op. cit. (note 112), 165, pl. 67b.
12 G. Velenis, Hermeneia, 98, pi. 42b.
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A. Deroko, Monumentalna i dekorativna arhitektura u srednjevekovnoj

Srbiji, Beograd, 3rd ed., 1985, fig. 182, 198-199, 224-226, 242-243, 245,
251. SI. Cur¢i¢, Two Examples of Local Building Workshops in Four-
teenth-Century Serbia, Zograf, 7, 1977, 46, 47, fig. 4-7. Cf. also quatre-
foils around some arches in St. Nicholas, Prilep, and a zigzag motif
framing the arch of the south door of the Archangels at Stip.

! The framing of arches with brick ornaments, usually quatrefoils, is also
attested in Mesembria and Tirnovo; see K. Mijatev, Die mittelalterliche
Baukunst in Bulgarien, Sofia 1974, fig. 159-160, 172, 175-176, 178-
179, 192-194, 229, 238. Cf. also K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 73.

22 K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 145-148. G. Velenis, Zydlia ko1 moparnprozis
a¢ molbotiyes mhivOiveg emypagpéc, *Avtipavov, *ApiEpwpa otov Ko-
Onynm N. B. Apavdaxn, Thessaloniki 1994,266-269,277-280.

' See e. g. P. L. Vocotopoulos in AAA, V, 1972, 92, fig. 4; AAA, VI,
1973, 409, fig. 5; Praktika 1988, 98, pl. 68y; Praktika 1992, 151, fig.
60a.

13 E. Papatheophanous-Tsouri, ‘H ékxinaia ¢ ‘Ayiag Aixatepivne Nigov
HepiBeiac omyv Képropa, "Hrepotike Xpovikd, 24, 1982, 189, pl. 43y.

5 A. Deroko, op. cit., 127, fig. 183.

"6 P L. Vocotopoulos in AAA, V, 1972, 96, fig. 12; idem in Praktika
1996, 121, pl. 85.

57 A. K. Orlandos, Paregoritissa, 66-103.

" Ibid, 54, fig. 48-49. A. K. Orlandos, ‘O “Ayioc Basileioc tic "Apwyg,
ABME, 2, 1936, 126-127, fig. 9.



One may conjecture that a local team worked there, and that
Karoulis was responsible for the cross-vaulted plan of the
church. The characteristics of some monuments have led to
conjectures about the origin of the teams responsible for
them. St Nicholas Rodias and the Kato Panagia have been
ascribed to masons from southern Greece,'” while sculptors
from Italy were probably employed at Mesopotamon, Panta-
nassa and the Paregoritissa.”o

The architecture of the Despotate is uneven in quality,
regardless of sponsorship and location. The more impressive
structures are mostly located in or near the capital, Arta, but
there are exceptions, such as the fine and expensive St
Nicholas at Mesopotamon. Most buildings have a provincial,
rustic quality, including the Panagia Bryoni near Arta, which
was inaugurated by the Ecumenical Patriarch in person.'*!
Some churches, however, like the Kato Panagia, display a
finish reminiscent of the four-column churches of the Argolid.
Many churches are notable for their exuberant brick decora-
tion, which is characterized by its variety and originality ra-
ther than by its quality (fig. 10).

It is clear from the previous discussion that the ante-
cedents of the architecture of the Despotate of Epirus must
be sought in the local tradition and in the Helladic school,
but that it is, at the same time, influenced by the school of
the capital, Macedonia and the West.

Local features which persist in the architecture of the
Despotate include the prevalence of the barrel vault over the
groin and domical vault, of timber-roofed over vaulted aisle-
less chapels, of plain surfaces over exteriors articulated with
blind arches and niches, and of straight over curved gables.
The careless masonry of roughly hewn stones with brick
fragments in the vertical joints, alternating with single brick
courses, is inherited from the local tradition as were, among
the brick motifs used, the zigzag bands.

The influence of the Helladic school is overwhel-
ming. The few churches in northwestern Greece datable to
the eleventh and twelfth centuries, when that school flou-
rished, are undistinguished.|42 It is natural that patrons in the
new dynamic state based in Arta turned to the neighbouring
regions of southern Greece, which had been occupied by the
Latins, for models and in some cases invited teams of
masons. It is no coincidence that St Nicholas Rodias and the
church at Rivion, both attributed to the first decades of the
thirteenth century, are closely related to the Helladic school.
The two-column cross-in-square church type encountered in
the school of the Despotate was borrowed from southern
Greece, as were also the cloisonné masonry, three-sided
apses, exterior pilasters linked by an arch, semi-arches
flanking windows, stone arches and frames of doors and
windows, the embedding of glazed bowls, and many brick
patterns, such as the Greek fret, key- and S-shaped, disep-
silon, astragal, contiguous lozenges and kufesque. The reti-
culate revetments, tiles with decoration in champlevé, quat-

"'D. Pallas in RbK, 11, col. 281.

A K. Orlandos, Paregoritissa, 93; K. Tsouris, Diakosmos, 19.

“'P. L. Vocotopoulos, Hapatnproers ém nij¢ Havayiag 106 Mrpoavy,

*Apyaohoyikov Aghtiov, 28, 1973, fasc. A, 159-168.

Idem, Architecture of the 710" cent., 208-210, 253. Idem, ‘Ayia

Iapaokevy 106 dpaxov, DChAE, 14,1987-1988, 49-59.

"} The assistance of Dr. K. A. Wardle in checking my English is grateful-
ly acknowledged.
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refoils, the framing of windows and arches with bands of
cut-bricks or quatrefoils instead of dentils, and above all the
geometric purity of the contours of the buildings, were all
imitated from the Helladic school.

Constantinopolitan features include the rarely en-
countered type of the four-column inscribed cross church
with five domes, porticos and chapels attached to the main
body of churches, some polygonal apses and curved gables,
the coursed masonry of the Pantanassa and St Demetrius at
Molyvdoskepastos, the occasional use of the concealed
course technique, the articulation of the east side of the Pa-
regoritissa with blind arches and niches in two tiers. Most of
these features are first attested in the last decades of the
thirteenth century, when there were much closer relations
with Constantinople, but some may have reached the
Despotate earlier via Macedonia or the state of the Lascarids
in western Asia Minor.

The architecture of nearby Macedonia appears to
have had a smaller impact on the buildings of the Despotate.
One may ascribe to Macedonian models the domes of the
Vlacherna, Pantanassa and Paregoritissa, with brick colon-
nettes at the angles, and the very tall cupola of the Mo-
lyvdoskepastos. Three-sided apses with recessed blind
arches at the lateral facets, fairly common in churches of the
Despotate from the reign of Michael II onwards, appear
earlier in Macedonia. Some brick patterns used in the Des-
potate, such as the concentric lozenges and basketwork
extending on large surfaces, recall Macedonian rather than
south Greek models.

Western influences in the architecture of the Despo-
tate are both rare and late, and must be attributed to its close
relations with Italy in the second half of the thirteenth
century. The exterior appearance, interior proportions and
most architectural sculptures of the Paregoritissa testify to
the impact of Italian models. The same applies to the monu-
mental portals of the Pantanassa, the exterior marble re-
vetment of the Mesopotamon church, the architectural
sculptures of, say, the Pantanassa, and the form of the win-
dows in such minor monuments as the Taxiarches in
Mokista and St John at Eupalion. The glazed terracotta re-
liefs of St Basil in Arta have been attributed to an Italian
artist. The Western origin of the cross-vaulted type, which
was popular in its three-aisled variant, has yet to be proven.

The architects of the Despotate of Epirus enriched
the formal vocabulary which they borrowed mainly from the
Helladic school: They introduced new brick patterns, che-
quered friezes in two colours, inscriptions incised on bricks,
and covered whole walls with an exuberant tile decoration.
They replaced the rippling eaves of cupolas with straight
ones. They combined windows framed by semi-arches with
the ends of the barrel vaults which are built over them. They
were capable of inventing new daring solutions in church
planning; the Paregoritissa and St Nicholas at Mesopotamon
are highly original creations, which remain unique in the
architecture of the Byzantine world. The Mesopotamon
church was not solid enough to withstand repeated earth-
quakes and underwent extensive repairs, which have ra-
dically altered its appearance; the Paregoritissa, on the con-
trary, miraculously stands to this day, demonstrating the
boldness and dexterity of the architects and masons of the
Despotate of Epirus.'**
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The following abreviations are used, in addition to the customary ones:

AAA: Athens Annals of Archaeology.

ABME: dpyeiov t@v Bulavrivéyy Mvnyueiov thc ‘ElAddog.
DChAE: deltiov tijc Xprotiavikijc 'Apyaroloyikijc ‘Etaipeiog, 4t
period.

Praktika: ITpaxtika tij¢ €v "AOpvaig "Apyaioloyikiic “Eraipeiag.

A. Orlandos, Paregoritissa: A. K. Orlandos, ‘H Iapnyopiticoa
tijc "Aptng, Athens 1963.

K. Tsouris, Diakosmos: K. Tsouris, ‘O kepauporlasticog didkoo-
poc t@v vatepofulavivedy pviuciov tic Boperodvtikiic ‘EALd-
doc, Kavala 1988.

G. Velenis, Hermeneia: G. Velenis, ‘Epunveia 1ot ééwtepikod
dtaxoopov oty Bulavtivy apyitextovikn, Tessaloniki 1984,

G. Velenis, Thirteenth-Century Architecture in Epirus: G. Vele-
nis, Thirteenth-Century Architecture in the Despotate of Epirus:
The Origins of the School, Studenica et 1’art byzantin autour de
I’anné e 1200, Belgrade 1988, 279-285.

P. L. Vocotopoulos, Architecture of the 7"-10" cent.: P. L. Voco-
topoulos, ‘H ekxinoiactixy &pyitektoviky ei¢ mv Avticnv Xtepedy
‘EAldda kai v "Hreipov ano tod tédovg tov 7" puéypt 1o tédoug
to5 10™ aid@vog, 2™ edition, Tessaloniki 1992,

IlpkBena apxutexkrypa Enupckor gecnorara: mpodJiem yrTumaja

[Tanajotuc JI. Bokoromynoc

['panurtespcka cBOjCTBA LpKaBa HacTanux Yy Emupckom
Jecroraty, poMejckoj apxaBu oOpasoBanoj Tokom XIII cTo-
neha y obnactuma 3anaaHe I'puke, npeAcTaBibajy jeIHO O Haj-
3HavajHUjUX obenexja MO3HOr pa3nobsba BH3AHTHUjCKE apXH-
TEKType. AYyTOp MCTpaxyje pa3IH4HuTe yTHLAje KOjU Cy JOBEJH
10 popMupara 0COOEHHX JieN1a OBE rpaUTesbCKE IKOJIE.

VY apxurexktypu Enmpa y oBom pa3nobsby Hajuelnhe ce
TNIOJMXKY LIPKBE Ca OCHOBOM YIHCAHOT KpCTa, rpaljeBHHE ca Hal-
BUILEHHM IMOMPEYHHM CBOJOM, Kao M jemHoOponne. Hajsehu
Opoj KpcTooOpa3HUX XpaMoOBa MMa KyIoJy KOja MOYMBa Ha 3H-
JoBHUMa M3Mel)y onTapcke ancuiae M nactodopuja, M mapy cry-
©oBa wiH crybara Ha 3anaaHoj crpanu (CB. Hukona Poaujcku
ko1 Apre, Cs. hophe y Anrenokactpo y ETtonuju u npyre).
JiBe upxse, [lantanaca kon Pununujage v I[Tapuropuruca y
ApTH, UMajy noceOHe TpaBeje y KojuMa je o0pa3oBaH NpocTop
ojJTapa, LITO je KapaKTePUCTHYHO 3a L@PHrpajcke XpaMoBe.
OBa M apyre MoceGHOCTH CNOMEHYTHX rpaljeBuHa yka3syjy Ha
NPECTOHUYKHU YTHULIA], BEPOBATHO MOCPEIOBAH NPEKO CIIOMEHH-
ka nuHactuje Jlackapuca (Capauc, upksa E). ITopen upkasa
YIUCAHOT KpCTa, Ha HeKaJallboj TepuTopuju Enupckor gecro-
TaTa Hajla3e ce ¥ YETUPH O YKYIHO jeJaHaecT cauyBaHHUX TpO-
OponHux rpaljeBHHa ca HaJABUILIEHWM TONPEYHUM CBOIOBHMA
(ITanaruja Bpuonu xon Apre, Takcujapcu kon Kocrtanuanw,
Cs. lumurpuje y obnactu ®anapwu, kao u Karo Ilanaruja y ca-
Moj ApTH). MHTEeH3MBHA MpUMEHa OBOT pelliemha HAaBOJH Ha I0-
MHCa0 O HEroBOM nopekiy y Enupy, anu je BaXHO HaroMeHy-
TH J1a Y JAPYTUM TPYKUM TOKpajHHaMa MocToje U PaHHjH TaKBH
npumepH (Cs. Hophe y Auapycu, Mecennja). Konauto, jenHo-
OpoaHe upkBe Hajyewhie Cy MOKPUBEHE APBEHUM KPOBOM,
CKpOMHE M y HajBehieM Opojy ciyvajeBa carpaljeHe u3BaH cpe-
JMILITA CPEeIHOBEKOBHE €NUPCKE IpPIKaBe.

MHore enupcke LHpKBe MPBOOUTHO HUCY UMaJle ocebaH
npocTop Haprekca. TaMo rae nocToje, HAPTEKCH Cy TPOIENHH,
ca 60YHUM TpaBejuMa KOjHu Cy 3acBO)EHH MONPEYHO MOCTaBIbE-
HUM MOJTyoOJIMYaCTUM CBOAOBHUMA, M CPEIHLILUM KOjH je Io-
KpHBeH KyrnonactuM cBozioM. Y Kato IManaruju, ITopra [lana-
ruju, Meranu I1anaruju y [Tapamutuja u upkeu y Meconotamy
TNIPUIIPaTe HUCY OZIBOjE€HE O[] HA0Ca 3HIOM.

AMOynaTopujymMu, 60YHH NMOPTHLM M Karesie He NpHra-
Jajy peliemUMa NMpey3eTHM U3 JokanHe Tpaauuyje. U Ty je, mo
CBOj NMPUITHLIH, PeY O LAPUTPAACKUM YTHLIAjUMa.

JIBe TexHHKe 3uIama Mperno3Hajy ce Ha LpKBaMa ernup-
ckor mecnorara: cloisonné M 3ugame pefoBMMa KaMeHa Koje
CMelbYje TI0 jeaH pell Oreke, ca BOJOPABHO MOJOXXEHUM JIeJI0-
BHMa OIeKa MOCTABJ/bEHUM y3 BEpTHKaNHE criojHuue. [IpBu Ha-
BEJIEHH MOCTyNaK je yemhe nMpuMewmUBaH, TOK APYrd MOTHYE
U3 paHH]jer JIOKAJTHOT rpaauTtesbekor Hacneha. [IpobuTHH neo

xpama boropoauue ITantanace (Pununujana), kao U cpylleHa,
cnabo uctpaxeHa upksa CB. JluMuTprja y MoJIMBIOCKENAcTOC
3MJaHe Cy yIilelakheM Ha LApUrpajcka OCTBapeba.

V ropmHM 30HamMa eNMPCKMX LpkaBa Hajuewhu cy mo-
JTyoOJIM4acTH CBOJOBH M3BEIEHH 01 oreke. Pedpactu cBoOBH
KOHCTpyHcaHu cy y [lapuroputucH, Haj npunparom Meranu
[Tanaruje, Haa 3amagHuM noptukoM IlanTaHace u y HajseheM
ney amOynaropujyma Cs. Teomope y Aptu. IleTokymnosiHo pe-
wewe 6uo je npumereHo y [lapuropurucu u, BeposatHo, [Ta-
HraHacu. Kynone enupckux XxpamoBa OOMYHO Cy OCMOCTpaHe.
[Tonekan cBojum u3rneaom mnojacehajy Ha oHe Hacraje y TOKO-
BMMa apxuTekType “‘rpuke wkone” (CB. Credan y Pusuony y
Axapnanuju). Kynone Bnaxepue, [lantanace u [Tapuroputu-
ce, ca KOJIOHeTaMa Ol OTeKe Ha YrjoBHMa CTpaHa, MOIU(HKO-
BaH Cy O/jeK oArosapajyiux peuiemwa y rpaautessctBy ConyHa,
noHerze u MakezioHuje (M3pa3uTo BUCOKA KyIoJjla MaHACTHPA Y
MonuBaockenacToc).

Hzpasuro obenexje enupcKkuX LpKaBa U3 BpeMeHa Jec-
norara TNpeAcTaBbajy (pacame mokpuBeHe OGoOraTHM YKpacoM
M3BEJICHUM cllarambeM orneke. MOTHBH Cy Npey3eTH U3 pernep-
Toapa ‘rpyke IIKOJIE”, JIOKaIHe Tpaguuuje, noHekaa U Make-
nonuje. [lojennHu cy cBOjCTBEHH W rPaIUTE/bCTBY HEINTO YAa-
JbeHujux obnact (Cpbuja, PymyHuja). JeaMHCTBEH je ykpac Ha
¢acapama upkse CB. Bacunuja y Aptu (kacau XIII Bek), usse-
JIEH eMajupaHuM TulouuLamMa y Tpu 6oje, Moj YTHLAjeM Koju
BEpOBaTHO Jonupe u3 Uranuje.

Hako je mopexyio Mo3HOCPEIHOBEKOBHHX EMUPCKHX
rpaguTe/ba TOTOBO MO MPaBUIy HEMO3HATO, CauyBaH je BaxaH
noaaTak Koju CBEIOYH O NPUCYCTBY MTAIMjaHCKUX MajcTopa.
[Ipema jeqHOM 3HATHO MO3HMjeM MHCaHOM u3Bopy (M3 1703.
r.), HacTaJIOM Ha OCHOBY BECTH M3 CTapUjUX NOKyMeHara,
LPKBY NMpeodpaxemCcKor MaHacTHpa u3Hag ['anakcuau noau-
rao je Huxono Kapynu (Niccolo Caruli), koju je npeTxoaHo
panuo 3a ¢Qpanauke remuhe. O genoOBamby HTANMjaHCKUX
aTesbea y Enupy nocpenHo ce 3akibydyje M 10 OCTaLlUMa ap-
XHUTEKTOHCKE CKYJINTYpe UpkBe y Meconoramy, [TaHTanacu u
[Tapuroputucu.

ApxurekTypa upkaBa Enupckor gecmorara Hactana je
YKpIUTalkeM pa3IMYUTHX YTHLAja KOjU Cy ce Ha 0COOEH HauHH
YKJIONMJIM Y TOKOBE TPaAULIMOHAIHOT CaKPaJTHOT FpauTesbCTBa
Ha O0BOj TEPUTOPHjH. Y MPOCTOpPY, KOHCTPYKTUBHUM pEILCHH-
Ma M JeKOpalHju €MUPCKUX XpaMoBa MPEMNo3Hajy ce MojeanHa
cBOjcTBa caBpeMeHor rpaljemwa y Llapurpany, MakenoHuju 1 y
Hranuju. YcBajajyhin MX, €NMPCKH MajCTOPH CY CTBOPHJIM 3Ha-
YajHy rpajuTesbcKy Lkomy. Heka mUX0Ba OCTBapemwa, MOMyT
[Tapuroputuce u upkse CB. Hukone y Meconoramy, npeicra-
BJbajy jEAMHCTBEHA JieJIa Y apXHTEKTYPH BU3AHTHjCKOT CBETA.



